# Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in International Trade and Investment Agreements: implications for states, businesses and workers

Authors: Rafael Peels, Anselm Schneider, Elizabeth Echeverria and Jonas Aissi\*

#### **ABSTRACT**

Businesses increasingly engage in the promotion of labour standards through initiatives of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR). Even if the effectiveness of such CSR initiatives is not undisputed, it is increasingly regarded as one decisive element of global labour governance. Once conceptualized as purely private and voluntary, it is increasingly considered as a responsibility of enterprises to address the broader implications for society of its activities worldwide, and becoming part of governmental policies. The increasing incorporation of CSR language in trade and investment agreements is such an example, where various policy instruments on the soft-hard law continuum are combined. This article therefore assesses the reference to labour-related CSR commitments in trade and investment agreements and examines its implications for states, businesses and workers. It finds that CSR language is relatively weak in terms of obligation, precision and delegation, however, it also stresses the potential to use the mechanisms that are provided in these agreements to activate and follow-up CSR commitments. The paper concludes by addressing the role of the ILO. Although some experiences exist where the ILO directly targets private businesses' compliance with labour standards, for instance through monitoring, capacity building or social dialogue, the research points towards the potential role of the ILO in enhancing multi-stakeholder involvement.

## **Contents**

INTRODUCTION	2
emerging global labour governance	
businesses contribution to the promotion of labour standards	
Structure and main findings	
CSR AS A REGULATORY MODE	
Potential and challenges of private regulation	
The concept of CSR	0

\_

<sup>\*</sup> Rafael Peels is Research Officer at the ILO Research Department. He holds a PhD in social sciences from the University of Leuven. Anselm Schneider holds a PhD in the area of CSR and organization theory from the University of Zurich. He is assistant professor at the Stockholm Business School. Elizabeth Echeverría Manrique holds an LL. M in International Law from Heidelberg University and is a researcher at the ILO Research Department. Jonas Aissi holds a MSc in International Politics from SOAS, University of London and works as researcher at the ILO Research Department. The authors would like to thank Marva Corley, Emily Sims, Githa Roelans, Franz Ebert, Sean Cooney and Marialaura Fino for their useful comments. Any views expressed or conclusions drawn represent the views of the authors and not of the ILO. This paper has only been possible thanks to the contribution of the ILO Research Department and the ILO Multinational Enterprises and Enterprises Engagement Unit. A previous version of the paper has been published in the Bulletin of Comparative Labour Relations, 89 (2014).

the hard-soft law continuum	6
bringing the state back in	10
CSR IN TRADE AND INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS	
State-of-the-Art	14
obligation and precision	16
delegation	20
THE POTENTIAL ROLE OF THE ILO	21
THE WAY FORWARD	24
REFERENCES	26

#### INTRODUCTION

The global economy is becoming more deeply integrated and interdependent. International trade and investment increasingly takes place through new patterns and structures of production that operate beyond national boundaries. New forms of production that are shaped through Multinational Enterprises (MNEs) and Global Supply Chains (GSCs) are increasingly prominent and set the architecture of international trade and investment and accordingly decent work impacts. Some studies stress the opportunities of these newer forms of production to create more and better jobs, i.e. through spill-overs of innovation, skills and best management practices. Other studies highlight the pressure of intensive competitiveness and increased demands for flexibility on decent work. The increased influence, complexity and mobility of these newer forms of production on the one hand (see, e.g., Chandler & Mazlish, 2005; Muchlinski, 2007), and mixed results in terms of labour impacts on the other, pose a particular challenge to sustainable development, particularly in economies where the regulatory and institutional capacity of national governments to deal with global business activities is limited (see, e.g., Strange, 2000).

## ... emerging global labour governance

As a response to this limited capacity at the state level to develop appropriate regulations and ensure compliance with these, a plethora of actors such as international organizations, civil society, including trade unions and businesses are increasingly involved in setting, implementing and monitoring the policy and institutional frameworks that shape the conditions under which global trade and investment operate.

A recent illustration is the Rana Plaza disaster in the Bangladeshi Garment sector (24 April 2013) and the various policy initiatives in response to that, such as the Bangladesh Accord on

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Chapters 4 and 5 in ILO (2015).

Fire and Building Safety and the Alliance for Bangladesh Worker Safety amongst others, that address the differentiated responsibilities of states, private businesses along the GSC, international organizations, such as the International Labour Organization (ILO), and other stakeholders.<sup>2</sup> This emerging global labour governance framework is increasingly transnational, multi-layered and complex, involving a range of policy instruments and institutional mechanisms.

## ... businesses contribution to the promotion of labour standards

Also businesses increasingly contribute to the promotion of labour standards, both in home and host countries, through their Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) activities. Companies are increasingly concerned to behave responsibly everywhere they operate. CSR is a container concept that entails various dimensions, amongst others, the development of codes of conduct and the establishment of monitoring mechanisms to review compliance with these, due diligence with regard to sustainable development impacts of supply chain activities, revision of purchasing and pricing practices (e.g. through buyer responsibility agreements) or cooperation activities to improve the capacity of suppliers to deal with increased competitiveness and fluctuations in demand (Anner et al., 2013).

Even if the effectiveness of such CSR activities is not undisputed, CSR is increasingly regarded as one decisive element of global governance (see, e.g., Scherer & Palazzo, 2011). Once conceptualized as purely private voluntary mechanisms, it is increasingly becoming part of governmental policies, as such creating a "policy hybrid" combining various policy instruments on the soft-hard law continuum (see Steurer, 2010; Aaronson and Zimmerman, 2008). The proliferation of trade and investment agreements that increasingly make referral to CSR is important in this regard.

This article first examines the reference to labour-related CSR commitments in trade and investment agreements. In this context,

CSR is defined as a way in which enterprises give consideration to the impact of their operations on society and affirm their principles and values both in their own internal methods and processes and in their interaction with other actors. CSR is a voluntary,

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://bangladeshaccord.org/; http://www.bangladeshworkersafety.org/ (consulted 8 June 2015).

enterprise-driven initiative and refers to activities that are considered to exceed compliance with the law.<sup>3</sup>

# Box 1. CSR clauses vis-à-vis labour or sustainable development provisions

The article distinguishes CSR clauses from labour or sustainable development provisions. In previous work of the ILO, labour provisions are defined as: "(i) any labour standard which establishes minimum working conditions, terms of employment or workers' rights, (ii) any norm on the protection provided to workers under national labour law and its enforcement, as well as (ii) any framework for cooperation in and or monitoring of these issues" (IILS, 2009).<sup>4</sup> This is essentially a state-centered definition, as it identifies a commitment of the signing parties - states.<sup>5</sup> CSR clauses on the contrary deal with voluntary, private sector commitments on labour issues.<sup>6</sup>

#### Structure and main findings

- Section 1 describes that CSR, despite being widely regarded as a set of voluntary business activities, is increasingly perceived as a responsibility and accordingly regulated by nation states in order to advance responsible business conduct;
- Section 2 provides an analysis of the increasing integration of CSR clauses in international trade and investment agreements. Overall, the reference to CSR is limited to declaratory language towards general principles, with limited reference to existing frameworks, such as the ILO MNE Declaration, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Guidelines or the United Nations (UN) Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. However, most of the agreements that make reference to CSR principles provide some institutional mechanisms that inter alia have the potential to deal with CSR issues.
- Section 3 analyzes the potential role of the ILO in increasing the effectiveness of such CSR clauses. The research finds that its main contribution might be situated at mainly two levels: (i) the state level through the traditional ILO instruments and supervisory mechanisms, and (ii) the level of private businesses and investors. In particular, the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> GB.295/MNE/2/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The inclusion of labour provisions in trade and investment agreements is discussed elsewhere (e.g. IILS, 2013; Prislan and Zandlviet, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In IILS (2009), explicit reference is made towards the exclusion of private-sector initiatives, such as codes of labour practice of multinational companies, in the study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> To a certain extent, this is an artificial distinction and an unavoidable overlap will remain as often CSR provisions are part of the same trade and sustainable development or labour chapters. Furthermore, the majority of these CSR instruments do include reference to the same labour instruments that are referred to in the labour provisions, i.e. the ILO Fundamental Conventions or ILO 1998 Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work. And these provisions are subject to the same institutional mechanisms, such as monitoring and technical cooperation activities that are provided in these agreements.

article emphasizes that the ILO has a role to play in rethinking the boundaries of CSR, mainly by stressing the involvement of multiple stakeholders and by experimenting with different approaches located on the soft-hard law continuum. Furthermore, the ILO has a particular contribution to make by enhancing institutional coherence on the issue;

- Section 4 concludes with a summary and reflection on the way forward.

#### **CSR AS A REGULATORY MODE**

This section will focus on four dimensions to better grasp the concept of CSR:

- the article starts with briefly discussing the *potential and challenges of private governance*;
- secondly, it gives an overview of the evolution and current understanding of CSR;
- the *soft-hard law continuum* as developed by Abbot et al. (2000) is discussed in the light of CSR clauses in trade and investment agreements. The soft-hard law continuum blurs the boundaries between traditional state-centered, sanction-based hard law and the ideal type of purely voluntary private regulation;
- the fourth dimension builds further on the soft-hard law continuum and assesses the *role of states* in the follow-up CSR provisions. Although, CSR is mainly developed as a response to weak normative frameworks and implementation capacity of states, i.e. in developing countries, the limits of voluntary private regulation spurred renewed attention to the role of states in this regard (e.g., see, Mayer and Gereffi, 2010). Indeed, it is found by some authors that the soft-law continuum is better suited to assess the regulatory dimension of CSR in the emerging architecture of global labour governance (see, e.g., Scherer & Palazzo, 2011).

## Potential and challenges of private regulation

Different opinions exist with regard to the potential, and threats, of businesses in the design and implementation of policy making. Proponents argue that:

- CSR initiatives may fill in the regulatory vacuum in particular policy areas and may contribute to enhanced monitoring and compliance of labour standards (O'Rourke, 2006; Graham and Woods, 2006; Gao, 2008; Gond et al., 2011);
- private business may bring economic leverage, additional expertise and other resources for making and enforcing norms and standards (Boisson de Chazournes, 2014);
- furthermore, voluntary private regulation is often viewed as more flexible and responsive (Braithwaite, 2006); and

• CSR schemes may also disseminate shared values in a particular policy area that may contribute to increased coherence and legislative development in the longer run (Kirton and Trebilcock, 2004; Boisson de Chazournes, 2014; La Hovary, forthcoming).

Nonetheless, private regulation comes with its own challenges:

- CSR initiatives may lack the legitimacy, surveillance and enforcement mechanisms offered by domestic labour legislation and institutions;
- in addition, with the involvement of a broad array of stakeholders, the proliferation of CSR initiatives may lead to increased heterogeneity among standards, their interpretation and monitoring (O'Rourke, 2003; Trebilcock, 2004; Fransen, 2012).

## The concept of CSR

CSR is defined as a way in which enterprises give consideration to the impact of their operations on society. It is a voluntary, enterprise-driven initiative and refers to activities that are considered to exceed compliance with the law.

#### Box 2: From voluntary to an enhanced sense of responsibility

Reality is less straightforward, though. The evolution of the European Commission's CSR definition is important in this respect as it shows a clear evolution away from a purely voluntary approach — "a concept whereby companies integrate social and environmental concerns in their business operations and in their interaction with their stakeholders on a voluntary basis" (EC Green Paper, 2001) towards an approach that emphases the "responsibility of enterprises for their impacts on society" (EC, 2011). This evolution is incorporated in Morguera's (2009) conception stressing that the "concept of corporate responsibility is based on the expectation that private companies should no longer base their actions on the needs of their shareholders alone, but rather have obligations towards the society in which the company operates" (see also Carroll, 2008; Melé, 2008). Hence, corporate responsibility entails a social norm or moral obligation to act correctly, not because it is a legal obligation, but because it is "the right thing to do" (see e.g. Ruggie Report, 2009; McCorquodale, 2009; Nolan, 2014).

#### ... the hard-soft law continuum

The soft-hard law continuum (Abbott et al., 2000) proves useful to better grasp this shift away from conceptualizing CSR as purely voluntary (see Box 2). The soft-hard law continuum characterizes a continuum of regulatory approaches that range from the traditional state-centered, sanction-based hard law to purely voluntary, private regulation. Abbott et al. (2000) argue that the continuum between these two ideal types can be characterized based on

three dimensions: obligation, precision, and delegation. Accordingly, different CSR instruments should be characterized by their degree of softness-hardness instead of a clear dichotomy between both. Whereas Abbott et al. developed this scheme to understand international organizations, such as UN agencies or the WTO; this paper uses the scheme to better understand commitments of businesses in state-to-state trade agreements.

- The dimension of (legal) obligation is concerned with 'bindingness'. Conventions for instance are binding on states which ratify them, which is not the case for recommendations, declarations or guidelines. In this regard, Duplessis (2008) clarifies the distinction between formal and substantive soft law. When using language such as, 'if the parties consider it reasonable' or 'if appropriate', the limited obligatory character lies in the substance of the norm (soft language use), whereas the instrument in itself may be hard law, i.e. being part of a binding agreement or treaty between the parties. Formal soft law instead refers to the legal medium, i.e. resolutions, declarations, recommendations and codes of conduct that do not generate binding legal obligations.

Non-binding instruments may have legal implications, though: the European Court of Justice for instance has held that national courts are bound to take recommendations (which have no binding force according to Article 288 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union) into consideration in order to decide disputes submitted to them (Thürer, 2009; Snyder, 1993). Another way is to explicitly integrate the soft-law commitment in a binding agreement: e.g. provisions towards promoting CSR in trade/investment agreements are legally binding for the signing parties. Language used is soft, however, which limits the obligatory character of the provision and has important implications for its enforcement (see delegation below).

## Box 3: The ILO 1998 Declaration in the hard-soft law continuum

The ILO 1998 Declaration is a good example of a soft law instrument (formally, see Duplessis (2008) above) that makes reference to hard obligations (Constitutional and Conventional) (e.g., see, La Hovary, forthcoming). The ILO 1998 Declaration and its Follow-Up is non-binding (dimension of obligation) and does not impose or create new legal obligations to ILO Members. The 1998 Declaration, however, does entail a hard dimension, based on the referral to the Constitution and Conventions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Case C-322/88 Grimaldi v Fonds des Maladies Professionnelles ECR 4407.

This hard-soft dimensions of the ILO 1998 Declaration have the following consequences: (i) it reaffirms the significance and meaning of the "contract" between States and the ILO (ILC, 1998); (ii) the referral to the Conventions provides a uniform standard of reference towards the principles concerning fundamental rights, which the Members have committed themselves to "respect, to promote and to realize, in good faith" by their adherence to the Constitution (ILC, 1998; Ebert and Posthuma, 2011). At the same time it excludes any obligation to comply with non-ratified Conventions (dimension of precision). This was reaffirmed by the ILO's Legal Adviser in 1998 (ILC, 1998), concluding that it was "legally impossible in the framework of the Declaration to impose any new obligation whatsoever on Members with regard to Conventions that they have not ratified" and assuring the lack of intention of the parties to impose new legal obligations on Members through this document; and (iii) in spite of its non-binding nature, it does creates a promotional follow-up mechanism that encompasses, amongst others, annual reporting based on the Constitutionally mandated follow-up concerning non-ratified fundamental Conventions, and technical cooperation (dimension of *delegation*).<sup>8</sup> Although, it is not its main objective, it also seeks to encourage States to ratify the fundamental conventions as a "logical outcome" of this follow-up mechanism. 9 Uncertainty exists, however, with respect to the added value or implications of introducing a reference to the 1998 Declaration in a context outside of the ILO, for example in trade and investment agreements or CSR instruments (see e.g. Augustí-Panareda, et al., 2015; Alston and Heenan, 2004).

Businesses are legally obliged to comply with domestic regulation in the countries where they operate (both home and host countries). Hence, every business decision to go beyond the law, is per definition voluntary, at least from a legal perspective (see Box 3). However, some elements come into play that blur the boundary between the binding and non-binding nature of CSR commitments:

a company may voluntarily commit to, and require of its suppliers in the global south, to go beyond compliance with domestic labour law. When integrated in a contractual arrangement, this becomes "hard law" (that exceeds domestic legislation). In this regard, van der Heijden and Zandvliet (2014) speak of a third generation of CSR initiatives - contractual CSR commitments or governance by contract (see also Cradden and Graz, 2015);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> ILO Constitution Article 19.5 (e) mentions the obligation of Member States to report to the Director General the reasons or difficulties preventing or delaying the ratification of a Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See GB.273/3 for a discussion on the implications of the Follow-Up on the ILO 1998 Declaration and Maupain (2005).

- furthermore, examples exist where purely voluntary CSR initiatives have been turned into legally binding obligations, for instance by interpreting non-compliance with CSR commitments as misleading commercial practice (Gond et al., 2011);<sup>10</sup>
- home states increasingly develop soft and hard obligations for businesses with regard
  to their international activities, i.e. voluntary/obligatory reporting on social impacts in
  the global south. This reflects the incorporation of previously pure soft commitments
  into domestic regulation; and
- instead of legal obligation, soft law may imply strong social or moral obligation, i.e. increasing expectations of enterprises' behaviour.
- The dimension of *precision* is concerned with a clear definition of commitments, i.e. through the reference towards existing CSR instruments such as the ILO MNE Declaration, the OECD Guidelines or the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, instead of reference towards general CSR principles.
- Finally, the dimension of *delegation* is concerned with the question of third-party authorization to implement, interpret and apply rules, to resolve disputes or to make additional rules. In the case of hard law, this can be understood as a rule or commitment being subject to administrative and judicial interpretation and application (e.g. enforcement through the domestic judicial system). Voluntariness on the other hand implies limited third-party delegation. However, a whole spectrum of compliance mechanisms, other than legal enforcement, does exist. These range from non-binding arbitration, conciliation/mediation, monitoring to public reporting (Abbott et al., 2000). All of these involve to a certain extent third-party authorization. In the case of trade and investment agreements, these encompass the establishment of mixed (between the administrations/ministries of both parties) trade and sustainable development committees that have the mandate to follow-up the implementation of the labour provisions, civil society advisory committees that monitor the making and implementation of these agreements, to expert committees or independent arbitration that can be established in case of labour disputes.

the Council).

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> An example of this is the "Unfair Commercial Practices Directive" (Directive 2005/29/EC of the EP and of the Council of 11 May 2005 concerning unfair business-to-consumer commercial practices in the internal market and amending Council Directive 84/450/EEC, Directives 97/7/EC, 98/27/EC and 2002/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and Regulation (EC) No 2006/2004 of the European Parliament and of

# Box 4: Illustrations of the soft-hard law continuum in trade and investment agreements

- The trade and sustainable development chapter of the EU-South Korea TA (2011) mentions that 'the Parties shall strive to facilitate and promote trade in goods that contribute to sustainable development, including goods that are the subject of schemes such as fair and ethical trade and those involving corporate social responsibility and accountability' (Article 13.6(2)). In terms of legal obligation, this commitment is part of a legally binding trade agreement, however, using soft language ("facilitate and promote"). Furthermore, it are the signing parties -states- that make certain commitments, not businesses. Precision is limited as no reference is made to internationally recognized CSR instruments. As the EU doesn't include binding arbitration in its labour provisions, it is characterized by a more limited level of delegation. However, the establishment of a civil society advisory body -the Domestic Advisory Group (DAG)- that has the mandate to monitor the implementation of the trade and sustainable development chapter, can be understood as a degree of delegation.
- The Netherlands-United Arab Emirates BIT (signed in 2013) explicitly refers to the OECD Guidelines by stressing the Parties' obligations to promote the application of these. In terms of legal obligation, this commitment is part of a *legally binding treaty*, however, using *soft language* ("promotion"). Both Parties' commitment is *more precise* as reference is made to the OECD Guidelines. The provision of a dispute settlement mechanism (consisting of consultations, the establishment of an arbitral panel, access to domestic courts or ICSID) to deal with "any matter concerning the interpretation or application of the agreement" (Art. 12), can be understood as a higher level of *delegation*.

In brief, a more blurred understanding of the distinction between hard and soft law seems more helpful to understand the reference to CSR in economic governance arrangements. CSR should not be understood as simply voluntary, but rather as a degree of voluntariness, depending on the level of obligation, precision and delegation. This has also implications for the private character of CSR, considering, as it will be further analyzed, the increased tendency of states to include CSR principles in its regulations

## ... bringing the state back in

CSR is increasingly discussed as an element of state policies (see, e.g., Steurer, 2010). According to Ward (2004): 'the CSR agenda as a whole may now have reached a turning

<sup>11</sup> The most advanced level of dispute resolution that applies to the trade and sustainable development chapter is the establishment of a committee of experts. The outcome of this committee, however, is not binding, as the parties (only) commit to "make their best efforts to accommodate advice or recommendations of the Panel of Experts on the implementation of this Chapter" (Art. 13.15, 2). Furthermore, the trade and sustainable development chapter is excluded from dispute settlement (Art. 13.16).

point in which the public sector is repositioned as a centrally important actor'. This is also reflected in the EU's position on CSR, stating that although:

"the development of CSR should be led by enterprises themselves, public authorities should play a supporting role through a smart mix of voluntary policy measures and where necessary, complementary regulation, for example to promote transparency, create market incentives for responsible business conduct, and ensure corporate accountability" (EC, 2011).

This is an important evolution as it essentially shifts the attention away from a CSR approach purely situated at the level of private business, towards bringing states back in, in a variety of ways. For instance, CSR has become an element of the policies of several countries with the aim to foster responsible business practices domestically as well as on an international level (Midtun et al., 2012):

- In 2000, the UK government included CSR as an official policy strategy by appointing a Minister for CSR within the Department of Trade and Industry (Lux et al., 2011).
- In France and Denmark, among other countries, large companies are legally obliged to publish social and environmental information on their activities, in addition to their financial results (see, e.g., Clavet, 2008).
- Similarly, the Australian Corporate Code of Conduct Bill was intended to subject overseas subsidiaries of Australian companies to a general obligation to observe human rights and the principle of non-discrimination (the Bill did not pass, though) (e.g., see, Muchlinkski, 2008).
- India's Companies Act (2013) obliges large companies to establish a CSR committee, develop a policy in this regard, monitor and report, and spend a yearly percentage of profits in pursuance of its CSR policy.
- In April 2014, the European Parliament adopted a directive on the disclosure of non-financial and diversity information by certain large companies and groups. 12
- This has also been manifested more explicitly in the field of trade and investment, where the European Parliament called for the integration of CSR clauses in all future international trade and investment agreements (European Parliament, 2010; European Parliament, 2011).

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/internal market/accounting/non-financial reporting/index en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/internal market/accounting/non-financial reporting/index en.htm</a> (consulted on 14 Jul. 2014).

This results in different types of interactions between both public and private governance and challenges for domestic labour regulation and institutions in the follow-up of CSR.

## Box 5: Four types of interactions between private and public governance

- A first role is requiring through laws, regulations or sanctions to guide business behaviour (Ward, 2004; Trubek and Trubek, 2007; Gond et al., 2011). The state is still the primary actor to provide for regulation, policies and adjudication to ensure adequate labour rights and working conditions, both in home and host countries. Utting (2005) observes a "hardening" or integration of broader business responsibilities, that previously may be addressed through purely voluntary CSR initiatives, in domestic regulation. From the moment that regulations become mandatory, however, CSR policies are turned into conventional hard law regulations (Steurer, 2010). Public administrations may require private businesses to conduct due diligence for human or labour rights, i.e. through a direct legal obligation (Green, 2003; De Schutter et al., 2012). For example, various governments of European member states require public pension funds to consider CSR in making investment decisions. India's Companies Act (2013) obliges large companies to establish a CSR committee, develop a policy in this regard, monitor and report, and spend a yearly percentage of profits in pursuance of its CSR policy. In 2012, the US Dodd-Frank Act requires companies that trade in the US and use conflict minerals, that is, minerals originating in the Democratic Republic of Congo or an adjoining country, to publicly disclosure the measures that are taken to exercise due diligence on the source and chain of custody of these minerals;<sup>13</sup>

- A second role is enhancing *transparency and disclosure mechanisms*, to promote or oblige corporations' reporting on sustainability impacts of their business and investment activities (e.g., see, De Schutter et al., 2012). In France, Netherlands, Denmark, Spain and Sweden, large companies are legally obliged to include social and environmental information in their annual reports or to publish CSR reports, in addition to their financial results (Clavet, 2008; ILO, 2013). In April 2014, the European Parliament adopted a directive on the disclosure of non-financial and diversity information by certain large companies and groups. Since 2012, larger retail sellers and manufacturers doing business in the US state of California must comply with website disclosure requirements on measures taken to prevent human trafficking within the enterprise's supply chain. In the case of Sweden, a proactive transparency approach has been applied: the Ministry of Foreign Affairs acts as focal point for CSR, which aims to turn Swedish companies into "ambassadors" of human rights, decent labour conditions, environmental protection, and anti-corruption around the world (Steurer, 2010);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> This first category has to be understood as traditional hard law, however, that may deal with one of the categories that is discussed under the other categories, such as transparency and disclosure.

- A third role is *providing incentives and benefits*, such as export credits, public subsidies or labelling schemes to companies that comply with CSR practices (Aaronson, 2002; Utting, 2005; De Schutter et al., 2012). An example of linking compliance with CSR commitments to economic incentives is the Dutch case: "in order to receive export credit guarantees, Dutch companies have to state that they comply with the (OECD) Guidelines" (Evans, 2003). Governments may also have a role to play in fostering an enabling environment for market-incentives, i.e. by enhancing transparency that enables consumers and investors to take consumption and investment decisions based on criteria of social conduct (Graham and Woods, 2006); and

- A fourth role is *partnering*, which is understood as the creation of leverage through the pooling of skills and resources of multiple stakeholders (Ward, 2004; Braithwaite, 2006; Mayer and Gereffi, 2010; ILO, 2013; Mayer, 2014). For instance, in the case of the Dominican Republic, in those sectors where private regulation has been more present, an increase has been observed in the number of requests that workers make for labour inspection (Amengual, 2009). This is a positive spill-over of private to public regulation (Vogel, 2005; Aaronson, 2007). This is also true, however, in the other direction. In the Spanish Programa Voluntario de Reducción de Accidentes, public authorities collaborate with enterprises in undertaking capacity-building to address the root causes of previous work accidents. Participation is voluntary, the social partners are involved in developing and implementing the programme and the company is exempted from labour inspection on the issues that are worked on during the period of the programme. The Dutch government established the "Knowledge and Information Centre on CSR", to coordinate CSR activities in the Netherlands, to disseminate information on CSR, and to promote dialogue and partnerships (Steurer, 2010). Another illustration is the Voluntary Protection Programme (VPP) of the US Occupational Safety and Health Authority (OSHA) that recognizes employers and workers that participate in a self-assessment on OHS. To participate, employers must submit an application to OSHA, undergo a rigorous onsite evaluation and three to five year re-evaluation. VPP participants are exempt from OSHA-programmed inspections while they maintain their VPP status (ILO, 2013).<sup>14</sup>

#### **CSR IN TRADE AND INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS**

In the following paragraphs, the article will examine the particular reference towards CSR in trade and investment agreements. After a brief introduction to the state-of-the-art on the issue, CSR clauses will be further assessed in terms of the soft-hard law continuum.<sup>15</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In this regard, Trubek and Trubek (2007) address public regulation as setting minimum standards, but allowing actors to opt-out on condition that they use private schemes, such as self-assessment to exceed the minimal standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For the purpose of uncovering instances of labour-related references to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in trade and investment agreements, the following method was used. CSR references - understood as a mixture

#### State-of-the-Art

The inclusion of CSR clauses in trade and investment agreements is in an embryonic state. This means that the large majority of agreements do not refer to CSR. Recently an increasing number of countries have started to include such language, though. Language use differs, however, depending on approach, partner country or type of agreement.

## Box 6: Emergence of CSR clauses in trade and investment agreements

Although reference to CSR in trade and investment agreements extends back to 2003/2004, the European Parliament called in 2010 and 2011 for the systematic integration of CSR clauses in future international trade and investment agreements (European Parliament, 2010; European Parliament, 2011). Already in 2001, Canada inserted CSR language in the preparatory documents of the Free Trade Agreement of the Americas (which was never concluded, though). Since 2009, Canada includes, particularly in the investment chapter, labour-related CSR clauses in its trade agreements as a part of a more comprehensive approach toward promoting CSR.<sup>16</sup>

Reference to CSR is most prominent among the traditional proponents on the issue of labour provisions in trade agreements: the EU, Canada, occasionally the US and more recently EFTA. Among the first arrangements that include CSR are the Joint Declaration concerning Guidelines to Investors, developed parallel to the EU-Chile Association Agreement (2003), the US-Chile Trade Agreement (TA) (2004), the EU-Cariforum Economic Partnership Agreement (2008), and the Canada-Peru (2009) TA. Since 2010, also in the agreements of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA), direct reference is made to CSR.

of terms, principles and instruments that are associated with CSR -'CSR', 'corporate', 'voluntary', 'selfregulation', 'OECD', 'global compact', 'responsibility', 'OECD Guidelines for Multinational Corporations', 'Global Reporting Initiative', 'Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights', 'ILO MNE Declaration' and 'ISO 26000'- were scanned for in both trade and investment agreements (including side agreements). All countries with trade agreements registered at the WTO (Regional Trade Agreements Database http://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/region\_e/region\_e.htm) were examined. In the cases of Canada, the EU and the US -the three economies with the longest tradition of including labour provisions- all bilateral trade agreements were examined. For other countries, only the most recent agreements have been examined, arguing that if a mentioning of CSR could not be found in the most recent agreements, the country was assumed to not make reference to CSR in earlier agreements either. Considering that the number of investment treaties by far exceeds the number of trade agreements, a more narrow selection of treaties was made. As the literature observes that the inclusion of CSR-provisions in investment treaties is a recent development (UNEP, 2011), also here a focus was placed on examining the most recent agreements (2009 onwards). Moreover, as this chapter focuses on CSR in relation to labour, again an emphasis was placed on those countries that are known for including labour provisions in their trade (and investment agreements) (for a list of these countries, see ILO, forthcoming). Similarly, whereas agreements may refer to the promotion of CSR in various fields, such as ecommerce or environmental protection - these are excluded, as the emphasis here is on labour.

http://www.international.gc.ca/trade-agreements-accords-commerciaux/topics-domaines/other-autre/csr-strat-rse.aspx?lang=eng (consulted on 31 Jul. 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In the US case, CSR is mainly referred to under the chapter of environment. However, more recent agreements, such as US-Peru (2009) and US-Colombia (2012) also refer to CSR when dealing with labour.

Finally, reference to CSR is much more present in bilateral trade agreements, compared to other types of arrangements, such as unilateral schemes or Bilateral Investment Treaties (BITs). With regard to unilateral schemes, neither the US nor the EU GSPs incorporate a reference towards CSR.<sup>18</sup>

In the field of investment, reference to CSR is mostly absent. A very limited number of recent BITs do include references to CSR, though:

- The Austria-Nigeria BIT (signed in 2013, not in force yet) expresses in the preamble the belief that responsible corporate behaviour can contribute to mutual confidence between enterprises and host countries;
- The Canada-Benin BIT (signed in 2013, but not in force yet) mentions, in the core text, CSR as guiding principle and commits 'each Contracting Party [to] encourage enterprises operating within its territory or subject to its jurisdiction to voluntarily incorporate internationally recognized standards' (Article 4, Article 16);
- In some cases, explicit reference is made to existing CSR instruments. The Netherlands-United Arab Emirates BIT (signed in 2013) refers to the promotion of the OECD Guidelines;
- Also the 2009 Norway model BIT (which has not been adopted) explicitly encourages investors to comply with the OECD Guidelines and the UN Global Compact; and
- CSR may also be referred to under the investment chapter of comprehensive trade agreements, which is the case for Canada. 19

This limited reference is not really surprising, taking into consideration the limited experience with incorporating broader social concerns in BITs, at least compared to its trade counterparts. Additionally there is limited attention given to the issue by the broader public and accordingly advocacy. This has been changing more recently, owing mainly to the numerous claims under the investor-state dispute settlement (ISDS) mechanisms with regard to states' regulation in the areas of labour, environment, health, etc.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>20</sup> An additional evolution in this area has been the more tenable link between human rights and IIA, mostly as a result of the work of John Ruggie as Special Representative of the UN Secretary General on Human Rights and Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises (e.g., see, Footer, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Only the US and EU GSP's have been looked at, as these are the only ones that include a labour provision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Canada-Peru (2009, Art. 810); Canada-Colombia (2011, Art. 816) or Canada-Panama (2013, Art. 917).

Notwithstanding the recent nature of the phenomenon, CSR clauses tend to become *more comprehensive*:

- some agreements refer increasingly to CSR in the preamble, core of the agreement or parallel agreements (whereas before this was only mentioned in the preamble for instance), which is the case for EFTA or Canada;<sup>21</sup> or
- to refer to existing CSR instruments such as the ILO MNE Declaration, the OECD Guidelines, or the UN Global Compact, which is the case for the EU and EFTA; and
- regarding the US, while CSR has traditionally been referred to under the chapter of environment, this has been extended to the labour chapter in some of the more recent agreements.

Initial indications of *spill-over effects* between types of agreements can be observed:

- some countries have a longer tradition to include CSR language in its trade agreements and started to do this in their investment agreements, e.g., Canada;
- others already include labour provisions in some of their investment agreements and started to add a reference to CSR, which is the case for Austria or the Netherlands;
   and
- although one could expect countries that have included a referral to CSR in one trade agreement to repeat this in trade agreements with other countries, this is not observed in the data.

#### ... obligation and precision

When having a closer look at these CSR clauses, the signing parties - states - typically commit to cooperation activities on CSR, to encourage enterprises to voluntarily incorporate CSR mechanisms or to facilitate and promote trade in goods that are subject to CSR schemes. These are mainly 'double soft' references (e.g., see, Prislan and Zandvliet, 2013), understood as (i) soft language in terms of states' commitment with regard to the support to (ii) purely voluntary CSR engagement of the private sector. Nevertheless, these clauses also offer potential: states do commit to take policy initiatives in the area of CSR, be it the encouragement of investors to adopt voluntary standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The placement of the CSR reference gives some indication of the level of commitment expected of the parties to the agreement. Some agreements refer to the principle of CSR only in the preamble or annex of the agreement rather than in the core and therefore has only having limited legal power or is not subject to existing institutional mechanisms.

#### **Box 7: Illustrations of CSR commitments in TAs**

- cooperation activities, which may include amongst others CSR activities. The labour chapter of the US-Peru FTA (2009) for instance states that '\( \int\_{\cdots} \) regional cooperation activities on labor issues, may include, but need not be limited to ... dissemination of information and promotion of best labor practices, including corporate social responsibility, that enhance competitiveness and worker welfare' (Annex 17.6, Article 2(o));
- encourage enterprises to voluntarily incorporate/observe CSR mechanisms. For instance, the EFTA-Montenegro agreement (2012) acknowledges in the preamble the 'importance of good corporate governance and corporate social responsibility for sustainable development, and affirming their aim to encourage enterprises to observe internationally recognised guidelines and principles in this respect, such as the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance and the UN Global Compact'; and
- facilitate and promote trade in goods that are the subject of CSR schemes. The EU-South Korea (2011) trade agreement for instance deals with CSR under the chapter of trade and sustainable development, as following: 'the Parties shall strive to facilitate and promote trade in goods that contribute to sustainable development, including goods that are the subject of schemes such as fair and ethical trade and those involving corporate social responsibility and accountability' (Article 13.6(2)).

Whereas the former illustrations deal with CSR reference, more as exception than as rule, certain agreements address direct investors' obligations.<sup>22</sup>

- Art. 72 states that 'the EC Party and the Signatory CARIFORUM States shall cooperate and take, within their own respective territories, such measures as may be necessary, inter alia, through domestic legislation, to ensure that: investors act in accordance with core labour standards as required by the International Labour Organization (ILO) Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, 1998, to which the EC Party and the Signatory CARIFORUM States are parties';
- similarly, the Economic Community of West African States' (ECOWAS) Community Rules on Investment (2008) states that: 'investors and investments shall act in accordance with fundamental labour standards as stipulated in the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights of Work, 1998'; 23 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Although no explicit reference is made to the voluntary character of private business regulation, it is included in this analysis as it directly addresses investors responsibilities in the field of labour. <sup>23</sup> Taken from Ruben Zandvliet, ETUC presentation, April 2014.

• along the same line (See Box 8), the Model BIT of the Southern Development Community (SADC, 2012) establishes rights but also direct obligations for investors and their investments.

#### Box 8: Analysis of the SADC Model BIT in the hard-soft law continuum

- *obligation*: the Model itself is not a legally binding document. However, when executed in the shape of a BIT with other parties, its content will become legally binding. This implies that investors and their investments would have a binding obligation that directly emerges from the BIT, to respect human rights in the workplace and in the community and State in which they are located (Article 15.1).
- *precision*: the Model clarifies the content of investors' obligations, binding them to act in accordance with core labour standards as required in the ILO 1998 Declaration, and to operate consistently with international environmental, labour, and human rights obligations in the hosts or the home States, whichever the obligations are higher.
- *delegation*: the Model provides for a means to enforce investors obligations, providing the host state with the right to initiate a claim against the investor/investment in domestic courts based on the breach of the agreement (Article 19.3). A particular interesting element, are the extraterritorial implications, where the host state may initiate a complaint against the investor in the domestic courts of the home state (when the action is related to the conduct of the investor and claim damages arising from breaching the obligations of the agreement).<sup>24</sup>

Although differences exist among agreements, CSR clauses are generally soft, both in terms of obligation and precision. With regard to *obligation* reference to private business' responsibility is voluntary and accordingly the legal obligations these clauses entail are limited.

#### **Box 9: Implications for business**

Commonly, direct commitments for businesses are not existent as the agreements' subjects are the signing states. Indirectly, there may be implications for businesses as the Parties underline the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Article 19.4 SADC. Accordingly, Article 17 on Investor Liability, requires home states to be more accessible towards receiving complaints (of civil nature) of persons affected by the conduct of investors violating the agreement in the host state. This means that the home state are required to reduce the application of jurisdictional rules as the so called *forum non conveniens*, for example, that would allow them to reject a case because another tribunal in another jurisdiction (in this case the home state one) would be more convenient to hear it. See SADC Model BIT Treaty Template with commentary (2012). Available at: http://www.iisd.org/itn/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/sadc-model-bit-template-final.pdf

importance of CSR behaviour, i.e. through encouraging businesses' compliance with CSR instruments and principles when they are operating in their territory.

The exception is, however, when direct reference is made to investors' behaviour. By integrating a states' commitment to ensure that investors act in line the 1998 Declaration in the trade agreement, it makes it subject to the various institutional mechanisms (i.e. dialogue, technical cooperation, and perhaps even dispute settlement, etc.) that are provided for under the agreement.

Also in terms of *precision*, the examined agreements refer in general terms towards the idea of CSR, without defining it or further specifying existing CSR instruments, such as the ILO MNE Declaration, the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights or the OECD Guidelines.

#### **Box 10: Illustrations of (limited) precision**

The US-Colombia FTA (2012) for instance includes in the list of priority areas for technical cooperation and capacity building the dissemination of information and promotion of best labour practices, including on corporate social responsibility (Annex 17.6, Article 2(0)).

There are some exceptions, however, where explicit reference is made to existing CSR instruments. The preamble of the EFTA–Montenegro Agreement (2012) not only acknowledges the importance of good corporate governance and corporate social responsibility for sustainable development, but also affirms the parties' aim 'to encourage enterprises to observe internationally recognised guidelines and principles in this respect, such as the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance and the UN Global Compact'.<sup>25</sup>

Also in the field of investment, some exceptions do refer explicitly to existing CSR instruments. The Netherlands-United Arab Emirates BIT (2013) makes reference to the OECD Guidelines by stressing the Parties' obligations to promote the application of these. Also the Norway Model BIT (2009, never adopted) makes explicit reference to the OECD Guidelines and the UN Global Compact, stating that the Parties agree to encourage investors to conduct their investment activities in compliance with the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and to participate in the United Nations Global Compact.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Although the EFTA-Hong Kong, China FTA dates from the same year (2012) as the EFTA-Montenegro FTA and incorporates a similar reference towards CSR in the preamble, different language is used: 'acknowledging the importance of good corporate governance and corporate social responsibility for sustainable development, and affirming their aim to encourage enterprises to take into account internationally recognised guidelines and principles where appropriate'. No reference is made to existing CSR instruments.

#### ... delegation

Nevertheless, states do commit to cooperation, encouragement, facilitation or promotion of CSR. And these are binding commitments, which means that states can be held accountable with regard to whether measures have been taken to comply. As a general principle, parties are obliged to give effect to any commitment through good faith in the implementation and enforcement (e.g., see, Footer, 2009). Building further on this, Duplessis (2008) argues that despite the soft character of these provisions, a third-party could, if necessary, in practice determine what is reasonable behaviour in this regard (i.e. to clarify a commitment of effort).

The majority of these agreements provide for various implementation mechanisms, that *inter* alia, have the mandate to deal with CSR provisions. All of these provide different levels of third-party authorization, the establishment of mixed (between the administrations/ministries of both parties) trade and sustainable development committees that have the mandate to follow-up the implementation of the labour provisions, and civil society advisory committees that monitor the making and implementation of these agreements. The EU-South Korea agreement for instance provides for the establishment of a Domestic Advisory Group (DAG) in the respective countries and a joint Civil Society Forum. These also include various levels of conflict resolution, including government consultations and the establishment of a panel of experts to examine a particular issue, and in some cases arbitration through formal dispute settlement, including the possibility of economic sanctions. However, as higher levels of delegation almost never coincide with lower levels of obligation (Abbott et al., 2000), it is very unlikely that a CSR clause would be brought to dispute settlement (if not excluded to begin with) in the framework of a trade agreement.

Although CSR provisions have only limitedly been activated, in those cases where it has, labour advocates have played an important role. This is in line with the finding that stakeholders are key actors to activate the various implementation mechanisms of trade agreements (IILS, 2013; ILO forthcoming) and resonates with Abbott et al. (2000) who stress the importance of private access to activate the various implementation mechanisms, i.e. to initiate a process of conflict resolution.

The EU-South Korea DAG raised the issue of CSR as potential area for technical cooperation and the joint surveillance of multinational enterprises operating in the EU and the Republic of Korea on their compliance with the principles of the OECD Guidelines and the UN Guiding

Principles on Business and Human Rights. At the CSF (9 December 2014), both DAGs emphasized the need to promote and implement international CSR instruments, i.e. through the exchange of best practices and by getting familiarized with the operations of the OECD NCPs.<sup>26</sup>

#### **Box 11: Institutional coherence**

These mechanisms are established in the particular context of bilateral trade or investment agreements. However, they co-exist with existing mechanisms that are established under CSR instruments, such as the OECD guidelines that imply an obligation for governments to set up a NCP with the task to promote the guidelines and implement the complaint mechanism. Typically, the latter hold a mediation and conciliation function, without autonomous investigatory power or the mandate to enforce the outcome of the dispute. Hence, this can be understood as a limited level of delegation.

Similarly, the ILO provides for various mechanisms to monitor the compliance with international labour standards, i.e. through its traditional supervisory mechanisms, but also through periodic surveys to assess practices in areas identified in the MNE Declaration (fundamental rights; employment promotion; skills development; conditions of work and life; and industrial relations) or through the ILO Helpdesk for Business on ILS.

## THE POTENTIAL ROLE OF THE ILO

The debate with respect to whether the ILO has a role to play in the interplay between soft and hard labour regulation, involving public as well as private actors is not new (e.g., see, Duplessis, 2008). The same is true for the discussion with regard to the role of the ILO in the governance of labour concerns in trade and investment agreements (e.g., see, Doumbia-Henry and Gravel, 2006; IILS, 2013; Gravel and Delpech, 2013). However, less is known about the role of the ILO with regard to CSR-clauses in these agreements. Based on existing experiences of ILO involvement in the broader trade and labour debate, the potential role of the ILO with regard to CSR in trade and investment agreements, is explored. Challenges are situated mainly in three areas that correspond with the ILO tripartite mandate and structure:

Action at the level of states: states are still the main actors in shaping the necessary
conditions to guide corporate responsible behavior. States may promote adequate
business behavior through various regulatory tools, ranging from laws and regulations
that require transparency and disclosure in business' operations, voluntary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See more in the Conclusions issued by the two Co-Chairs, Mr Thomas Jenkins and Mr Youngki Choi at the Civil Society Forum under the EU-Korea Free Trade Agreement, 3<sup>rd</sup> meeting (Brussels, 9 December 2014).

recommendations and guidelines, to sanctions and incentives, i.e. by conditioning access to public procurement. The promotion of CSR initiatives may also take the form of providing access to information, the dissemination of best practices, or stimulating the pooling of resources;

- Action at the level of private businesses: the traditional ILO instruments and supervisory mechanisms mainly address the state level, aiming at strengthening national regulatory frameworks in home and host countries. Increasingly, the ILO has been involved directly at the level of private business, i.e. through the provision of guidelines (e.g., the MNE Declaration), by supporting businesses in the promotion of international labour standards (e.g., the ILO Helpdesk for Business on ILS), and by monitoring or developing capacity at the company levels (e.g., the ILO Better Work Programme) (Van der Heijden and Zandvliet, 2014);<sup>27</sup> and
- Action at the level of workers: various authors stress the importance of workers and workers' organizations, i.e. through industrial relations and bottom-up monitoring, to enhance the effectiveness of CSR initiatives (e.g., see Sabel et al., 2000; Blackett, 2004; Thompson, 2008; Anner, 2012; Young and Marais, 2013; Marx and Wouters, 2013). Stakeholder involvement is a transversal issue: it is not only a level of increased delegation in itself, labour advocates have also been found essential to activate the various implementation mechanisms provided in economic governance arrangements. Furthermore, stakeholders may improve the informational basis, trust and pressure to engage in enhanced levels of social, moral and legal obligation of CSR policies. Accordingly, information, technical expertise and monitoring of stakeholders may contribute to more detailed, better elaborated and therefore precise CSR commitments.

## **Box 12: Illustrations of ILO experience**

The ILO Better Factories Cambodia Programme is a good example where the ILO engages with states, businesses and social partners. First of all, Better Work brings together various national and international stakeholders, ranging from international buyers, national governments, workers and employers and their organisations (including the Global Union Federation dealing with the manufacturing sector -IndustriALL- and the International Organisation of Employers -IOE). It also

 $^{\rm 27}$  See GB.320/POL/10 for the renewed follow-up mechanisms of the MNE Declaration.

\_

promotes the establishment of joint worker-management committees. It is a clear commitment towards the principle of social dialogue and the involvement of workers and their organisations in the design and follow-up of responsible business behaviour. Furthermore, it addresses private businesses: companies voluntarily commit to a precise, binding agreement with the Better Work Programme, including various obligations with respect to the auditing of suppliers, the number of participating suppliers, or the support of the Advisory process. It also involves the delegation of certain functions, i.e. monitoring, to the Programme. The Programme also incorporates innovative government and international trade instruments: various economic incentives have been tied to participation in the Programme. Although participation is voluntary, it is a condition to receive an export licence and compliance with labour law and standards is also tied to additional market access under the Bilateral Textile Agreement between Cambodia and the United States (CUSBTA, 1999).<sup>28</sup>

Similarly the Accord on Fire and Building Safety in Bangladesh is an illustration of multi-stakeholder involvement, addressing states, businesses and workers. The Accord is a binding commitment between international brands, global trade unions and Bangladeshi trade unions. It is governed by a steering committee consisting of the signatory companies and trade unions, international NGOs and the ILO as chair.<sup>29</sup> Buyers voluntarily enter a binding commitment to disclosure, independent inspection, support factory upgrade and remediation, financial contribution, worker participation and grievance mechanisms. The increased public attention and consumer awareness after the Rana Plaza disaster (2013) on the issue of working conditions in the Bangladesh garment sector has contributed to companies entering the Accord. This means that factories enter on a voluntary basis a contractual commitment (legal obligation) to certain aspects of responsible business behavior. The Accord is very precise and includes a third-party authorization, i.e. independent inspection, worker involvement and mandatory compliance with remediation measures (Bangladesh Accord, 2013; van der Heijden and Zandvliet, 2014).30 The Government of Bangladesh and national employers and trade unions also signed a National Tripartite Plan of Action on Fire Safety and Structural Integrity in the Ready-Made Garment Sector of Bangladesh, which is a framework document for improving working conditions in the garment industry. Activities include strengthening of labour inspection and capacity building on occupational safety and health (OHS) and workers' rights. The ILO assists in the implementation of the Action Plan (WESO, 2015).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Cambodia Bilateral Textile Agreement (1999). Available at: <a href="http://khmer.cambodia.usembassy.gov/media2/pdf/uskh\_texttile.pdf">http://khmer.cambodia.usembassy.gov/media2/pdf/uskh\_texttile.pdf</a> (consulted 17 June 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See <a href="http://bangladeshaccord.org/">http://bangladeshaccord.org/</a> (consulted 11 June 2015).

A separate group of buyers established an agreement to inspect their factories called the Alliance for Bangladesh Worker Safety (2013). Although both schemes (Accord and Alliance) share the overall goal to promote working conditions in the Bangladeshi garment sector, approaches tend to differ mainly with regard to monitoring, enforcement and stakeholder involvement (ILO, 2015).

By stressing the differentiated roles of, and interplay among, states, workers and employers' organisations and MNEs, the ILO MNE Declaration uses a multi-stakeholder approach. The declaration stresses the potential contribution of MNEs to economic and social development, complementary to states' obligation to develop and enforce appropriate laws and policies to create an enabling environment for responsible business. The role of employers' and workers' organisations is addressed through the emphasis on collective bargaining, regular consultation, access to information, and the establishment of grievance mechanisms. Although the Declaration is a voluntary guideline, it has authority, and accordingly implies social and moral obligation on the issue. In terms of precision, important reference is made to the ILO standards and supervisory mechanisms. Specific third-party authorization takes place through a separate follow-up procedure, consisting of a general survey, a mechanism for the examination of the interpretation of the Declaration and the ILO Helpdesk.

## THE WAY FORWARD

Although references to CSR are still relatively limited in trade and investment agreements, they have become more common place in the last decade. CSR language is relatively weak in terms of obligation, precision and delegation. However, more potential exists than generally recognized and experimentation with CSR clauses could deliver interesting insights into its effectiveness. Although one could question the implications for private businesses, state actors do commit to take certain initiatives, mainly the promotion of voluntary CSR activities among companies. As these clauses are typically subject to the same institutional mechanisms as the other sustainable development or labour provisions, reporting, monitoring, technical cooperation and in limited cases even conflict resolution, these hold the potential to improve the effectiveness of CSR provisions.

This article finds that CSR language in trade and investment agreements has implications for states, business and workers to a varying extent:

behaviour worldwide, amongst others, through the support of CSR initiatives in trade and investment agreements. Typically, states commit to promote, encourage or cooperate on the issue of CSR. Notwithstanding the relatively soft character of these commitments, states do make certain commitments in this regard and can in principle be held accountable through the implementation mechanisms provided in the agreements. Whereas, often rather general CSR principles are referred to, increasing reference is made to existing international CSR instruments. Also delegation is rather

limited. The participation of labour advocates, however, is promising with regard to the activation of these clauses;

- Businesses: as the paper discusses CSR language in the particular context of state-to-states agreements, direct implications are situated at the level of states. However, at an indirect level, these agreements do offer additional implementation mechanisms to follow-up CSR (e.g. technical cooperation, or monitoring of business' operations worldwide through civil society advisory bodies). Those agreements where direct investors' obligations are mentioned do imply more far reaching possible consequences, such as being held accountable in the home country for investments in host countries; and
- Workers: trade agreements, typically, provide for various ways of stakeholder involvement, i.e. through the establishment of cross-border civil society committees.
   These have been used to advocate for increased cooperation activities or close monitoring of CSR behaviour of MNEs, and to cooperate with businesses in this matter.

Current ILO involvement in the follow-up of CSR clauses in trade and investment agreements is limited, but some embryonic experiences exist. The ILO is foremost involved by directly addressing states and their obligation to implement the international labour standards at the domestic level. This is the core of the ILO. However, interesting experiences exist where the ILO directly targets private businesses, through monitoring, capacity building or social dialogue at the sector or company levels. The research points towards the potential role of the ILO in enhancing multi-stakeholder involvement.

Very limited attention has been paid to the issue so far, and numerous elements deserve to be further examined in the future:

 whereas past research examined the experience with, including the effectiveness of, the various implementation mechanisms provided in trade and investment agreements to improve labour rights and working conditions, no research has been done with regard to the (potential) follow-up of CSR commitments through these mechanisms and its effectiveness;

- since trade and investment agreements shape the regulatory framework through which GSCs operate, the opportunities (and boundaries) of CSR language throughout the supply chain can be further examined;
- furthermore, the consistency of CSR measures with global trade rules, as established under the World Trade Organization (WTO) deserves more attention;
- also the role of workers' and employers' organisations in the follow-up of these CSR schemes should be further examined;
- finally, an assessment of how existing ILO supervisory mechanisms have been dealing with CSR, and trade and investment agreements should give additional insights into the potential role of the ILO in this regard.

## **REFERENCES**

- Susan Aaronson. 'Minding Our Business. Corporate Social Responsibility Pressures and the Failure to Develop Universal Global Rules to Govern Investors and States', *Journal of World Investment*, 3(3), June 2002.
- Susan Aaronson and James T. Reeves. *Corporate Responsibility in the Global Village: The Role of Public Policy* (Washington: National Policy Association. 2002).
- Kenneth W. Abbott, Robert O. Keohane, Andrew Moravcsik, Anne-Marie Slaughter and Duncan Snidal. 'The Concept of Legalization'. *International Organization*, 54, 401 (2000).
- Jordi Agustí-Panareda, Franz Christian Ebert and Desirée LeClerq. "ILO Labor Standards and Trade Agreements: A case for consistency" in *Comparative Labor Law & Policy Journal*, 36 (6), 347-380, Spring 2015.
- Mark Anner. 'Corporate Social Responsibility and Freedom of Association Rights: The Precarious Quest for Legitimacy and Control in Global Supply Chains'. *Politics & Society*, 40(4), 609-644 (2012).
- Philip Alston and James Heenan. "Shrinking the International Labor Code: An Unintended Consequence of the 1998 ILO Declaration on fundamental Principles and Rights at Work?" in *New York University Journal of International Law and Politics* 36, 101-141 (2004).

- Stephanie Barrientos, Gary Gereffi and Arianna Rossi. *Economic and social upgrading in Global Production Networks: Developing a Framework for Analysis*. Working Paper 2010/03, Capturing the gains: economic and social upgrading in global production networks.
- Better Work Programme. Website. http://betterwork.org/global/?page\_id=339 (Date of access: 2013-12-22), 2013.
- David Bilchitz. 'A chasm between 'is' and 'ought'? A critique of the normative foundations of the SRSG's framework and Guiding Principles" in *Human Rights Obligations of Business: Beyond the Corporate Responsibility to Respect* (Deva S & Bilchitz D (eds)), Cambridge, 2013.
- Adelle Blackett. 'Codes of Corporate Conduct and the Labour Regulatory State in Developing Countries'. In John J. Kirton and Michael J. Trebilcock (eds), *Hard Choices*, *Soft Law. Voluntary Standards in Global Trade*, *Environment and Social Governance* (Ashgate: Surrey. 2004).
- Alfred D. Chandler and Bruce Mazlish (eds). *Leviathans: Multinational corporations and the New Global History* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005).
- Rémi Clavet. *Introduction. In International Institute for Labour Studies*. Governance, International Law & Corporate Social Responsibility (Geneva: ILO. 2008).
- Conor Cradden and Jean-Christophe Graz. *Governance by contract? The dimensions of the legalization of labour standards in World Bank private sector development finance*. Paper for presentation at the 4<sup>th</sup> Conference of the Regulating for Decent Work Network (Geneva: 2015).
- Olivier De Schutter, Anita Ramasatry, Mark B. Taylor and Robert C. Thompson. *Human Rights Due Diligence: The Role of States*. (December 2012), http://accountabilityroundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/Human-Rights-Due-Diligence-The-Role-of-States.pdf (Date of access: 2014-06-18).
- C. Doumbia-Henry and E. Gravel. 'Free Trade Agreements and Labour Rights: Recent Developments, *International Labour Review*, 145(3) (2006).
- Isabelle Duplessis. 'Soft International Labour Law: The Preferred Method of Regulation in a Decentralized Society. In *International Institute for Labour Studies*. Governance, International Law & Corporate Social Responsibility (Geneva: ILO. 2008).

- Niklas Egels-Zandén. 'TNC Motives for Signing International Framework Agreements: A Continuous Bargaining Model of Stakeholder Pressure'. *Journal of Business Ethics* 84 (2008), 529.
- Niklas Egels-Zandén and Peter Hyllman. 'Exploring the Effects of Union-NGO Relationships on Corporate Responsibility: The Case of the Swedish Clean Clothes Campaign', Journal of Business Ethics 64(3) (2006), 303.
- John Evans. 'OECD Guidelines One Tool for Corporate Social Accountability'. In *Corporate Social Responsibility: Myth or Reality?*, Labour Education 2003/1, No. 130. (ILO: Geneva. 2003).
- European Parliament. European Parliament Resolution of 25 November 2010 on Corporate Social Responsibility in International Trade Agreements (2009/2201(INI). http://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?type=TA&language=EN&reference=P7-TA-2010-0446 (accessed 16 February 2012).
- European Parliament. European Parliament resolution of 6 April 2011 on the future European investment policy (2010/2203(INI)). (2011).
- European Commission. *EU-Central America. Trade Relations under the Association Agreement* (European Union: Luxemburg, 2012).
- European Union. Regulation (EU) No. 978/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 applying a scheme of generalized tariff preferences and repealing Council Regulation (EC) No. 732/2008, *Official Journal of the European Union*, 31.10.2012, L 303.1, available at http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:303:0001:0082:EN:PDF (accessed 5 February 2014).
- M.E. Footer. 'Bits and Pieces: Social and Environmental Protection in the Regulation of Foreign Investment', *Mich. St. J. Intl. L.*, 18 (2009), 34.
- Milton Friedman. Capitalism and Freedom (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).
- Reg Green. The Social Responsibility of Business. In *Corporate Social Responsibility: Myth or Reality?*, Labour Education 2003/1, No 130 (ILO: Geneva. 2003).
- IILS (Rémi Clavet, Gregorio de Castro, Isabelle Daugareilh, Isabelle Duplessis, Eric Gravel, Hagen Henrÿ, Jean-Claude Javillier, Marianna Linnik, Sune Skadegaard Thorsen, Yun

- Gao and Arnold M. Zack). *Governance, International Law & Corporate Social Responsibility* (Geneva: ILO. 2008).
- IILS. Studies on Growth with Equity. Social Dimensions of Free Trade Agreements. Geneva, ILO, 2013).
- ILO. ILO Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization (ILO: Geneva 2008).
- ILO. Summary of the ILO 2012 global estimate of forced labour, 2012. http://www.ilo.org/sapfl/Informationresources/ILOPublications/WCMS\_181953/lang-en/index.htm (accessed 23 January 2013).
- ILO. 2013. Website. http://www.ilo.org/washington/areas/better-work/lang--en/index.htm (accessed 20 December 2013).
- ILO. 2014a. Implementation strategy for the follow-up mechanism of and promotional activities of the Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (MNE Declaration), GB.320/POL/10, 14 February 2014.
- ILO. 2014b. Multinational Enterprises Development and Decent Work. Report on the promotion and application of the Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy in the Americas (Lima, Peru 13-16 October 2014).
- ILO. 2015. World Employment Social Outlook, The Changing Nature of Jobs, (ILO: Geneva).
- Philip Jennings. 'Corporate Social Responsibility New Morals for Business?'. In *Corporate social responsibility: Myth or reality?*, Labour Education 2003/1, No. 130. (ILO: Geneva, 2003).
- John J. Kirton and Michael J. Trebilcock. 'Introduction: Hard Choices and Soft Law in Sustainable Global Governance'. In *Hard Choices, Soft Law. Voluntary Standards in Global Trade, Environment and Social Governance* (Ashgate: Surrey, 2004).
- Eva Kocher. 'Private Standards between Soft Law and Hard Law: The German Case' in *The International Journal of Comparative Labour Law and Industrial Relations*, 18/3, 265-280 (Kluwer Law International, 2002).

- Claire La Hovary. The ILO's Supervisory Bodies' Soft Law Jurisprudence'. In Adelle Blackett and Anne Trebilcock (eds), *Research Handbook on Transnational Labour Law* (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, forthcoming).
- Axel Marx and Jan Wouters, *Redesigning Enforcement in Private Regulation The Case of International Labor Governance*. Leuven Centre for Global Governance Studies Working Paper No. 126 (2013).
- Francis Maupain, "Revitalization Not Retreat: The Real Potential of the 1998 ILO Declaration for the Universal Protection of Workers' Rights", in The European Journal of International Law, Vol. 16. No. 3, 439-465 (2005).
- Roberth McCorquodale. 'Corporate Social Responsibility and International Human Rights Law' in *Journal of Business Ethics* (2009).
- Frederick Mayer and Gary Gereffi. 'Regulation and Economic Globalization: Prospects and Limits of Private Governance'. *Business and Politics*, 12(3) (2010), Article 11.
- Atle Midtun, Maria Gjølberg, Arno Kourula, Susanne Sweet and Steen Vallentin. 'Public Policies for Corporate Social Responsibility in Four Nordic Countries: Harmony of Goals and Conflict of Means'. *Business & Society* (2012).
- Peter Muchlinski. Multinational Enterprises and the Law (Oxford: University Press, 2007).
- Peter Muchlinski. 'Corporate Social Responsibility'. In Peter Muchlinkski, Federico Ortino and Christoph Schreuer (eds), *The Oxford Handbook of International Investment Law* (Oxford: University Press, 2008).
- Justine Nolan. "Trade and Investment Arrangements and Labor Rights", in Blecher, L., Stafford, N. K. and Bellamy, G. (eds.): Corporate responsibility for human rights impact: new expectations and paradigms, American Bar Association (Washington, D.C., 2014).
- Konstantinos Papadakis. 'Globalizing Industrial Relations. What Role for International Framework Agreements?'. In S. Hayter (ed.), *The Role of Collective Bargaining in the Global Economy* (Edward Elgar: Cheltenham 2011), 277.
- Vid Prislan and Ruben Zandvliet. 'Labor Provisions in International Investment Agreements:

  Prospects for Sustainable Development'. In Andrea Bjorklund (ed.), *Yearbook of International Investment Law and Policy* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2013).

- John Gerard Ruggie. 'Global Governance and "New governance Theory": Lessons from Business and Human Rights'. In Global Governance 20 (2014), 5-17.
- Guy Ryder. 'The Social Responsibilities of Business and Workers' Rights'. In *Corporate Social Responsibility: Myth or Reality?*, Labour Education 2003/1, No 130 (ILO: Geneva, 2003).
- Charles Sabel, Archon Fung and Dara O'Rourke. *Ratcheting Labor Standards: Regulation for Continuous Improvement in the Global Workplace*, KSG Working Paper, No. 00-010. (May 2000).
- Andreas Georg Scherer and Guido Palazzo. 'The New Political Role of Business in a Globalized World A Review of a New Perspective on CSR and Its Implications for the Firm, Governance, and Democracy'. *Journal of Management Studies* 48 (2011), 899.
- Richard Steurer. 'The Role of Governments in Corporate Social Responsibility: Characterizing Public Policies on CSR in Europe'. *Policy Sciences* 43 (2010), 49.
- Susan Strange. 'The Declining Authority of States'. In D. Held (ed.), *The Global Transformations Reader. An Introduction to the Globalization Debate* (Cambridge: Polity Press. 2000), 148-155.
- Grahame Thompson. 'The Interrelationship between Global and Corporate Governance'. In A.G. Scherer and G. Palazzo (eds), *Handbook of Research on Global Corporate Citizenship* (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 2008), 476-500.
- Michael J. Trebilcock. 'Trade Policy and Labour Standards: Objectives, Instruments, and Institutions'. In John J. Kirton and Michael J. Trebilcock (eds), *Hard Choices, Soft Law. Voluntary Standards in Global Trade, Environment and Social Governance* (Ashgate: Surrey, 2004)
- United Nations. Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. Implementing the 'Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework' (United Nations: New York and Geneva, 2011).
- UNEP. Corporate Social Responsibility and Regional Trade and Investment Agreements (Nairobi, 2011).
- Eva van der Zee. *Incorporating the OECD Guidelines in International Investment Agreements: Turning a Soft Law Obligation into Hard Law?*, Legal Issues of Economic Integration, 40, n° 1, 33. (2013).

- Halina Ward. *Public Sector Roles in Strengthening Corporate Social Responsibility: Taking Stock* (The World Bank: Washington 2004).
- -----. "Corporate Social Responsibility in Law and Policy". In Nina Boeger, Rachel Murray, Charlotte Villiers (eds), *Perspectives on Corporate Social Responsibility* (Edward Elgar: 2008).
- World Commission on the Social Dimension of Globalization. *A Fair Globalization:* Creating Opportunities for All (Geneva: ILO, 2004).
- Suzanne Young and Magalie Marais. A Multi-Level Perspective of CSR Reporting: The Implications of National Institutions and Industry Risk Characteristics, 20(5) Corporate Governance: An International Review, 432 (2012).